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ABSTRACT

This report details the  excavation of an outside yard area desig -
nated for redevelopment as an exten sion to the Towcester Youth
Coffee House i n Br ans on dosvcesten MNathamptonshire
The excavation focused on the site of outbuildings and a yard
belongingto 18" century cottages situated immediately behind 71
Watling Street on the north side of Br ans oanis All lof the
features investigated relate to 18™ century Georgian urban devel -
opment and later 19 ™ century activity.

The e xcavation also afforded an opportunity to review any potential
evidence for substantial earlier Roman a ctivity within the locality.
Unfortunately, only residual pottery was retrieved , un-associated
with any structures or features , indicati ng that the southern
boundary of any  extra -mural activity for the Roman town  probably
lay further to the north . However , it should also be noted that the
area available for excavation was comparatively small in the
context of the wider landscape . Therefore , findings should not be
construed as definitive evidence for the total absence of Roman
occupation but m ore as part of a broadening profile of archae -
ological knowledge for this area of Towcester



1. O Introduction

The community based Archaeological Charity (CLASP) was commissioned

by Towcester Youth Club to undertake an archaeological excavation of the

yard area abutting their property i n Br an:
extending the existing building. 1 An open area excavation of the yard was

required to meet the archaeological element of planning conditions for the

development of the site.

Bransonds Lane runs at right angles to the pi
the old Roman Road alignment, lying b etween the Silverstone Brook and

the Wood Burcote Road to the south of central Towcester. The property

itself is situated immediately to the rear of 71 Watling Street on the west

side of the road and the noiTHhel855Towcesteof Br ans
rating map demonstrates that the yard element of the development in

Bransoné6és Lane formed part of a row of buil
the entrance of a court known as O6Pudding Ba

At that time the row comprised a warehouse, two cottages and a ya rd
containing two sheds or outbuildings , and the actual positions of the
outbuildings shown on the map constituted the area for archaeological
excavation. The eastern end of the row is still extant and is believed to

date from the early to mid -18th century and retains a blocked -up window
with a keystone that extends above the lintel dated 1725. It is believed

that the western half of the existing property was constructed later and

relates to two  early 19 th century dwo up , one down 6 stone and slate
additions. 2

A previous unpublished partial excavation of the site undertaken in 1986

was also re -examined 3. It suggested the existence of earlier features :

affording an opportunity to review any potential evidence for earlier

Roman and Medieval development within the locality. The existence of

enigmatic Roman features observed at 65/69 Watling Street 35 metres to

the SE in the immediate neighbourhood i mplyi
site may be part of a more extensive Roman suburb or ex tra mural area

aligned along Watling Street to the south of the walled area. 4

Any evidence of structures or habitation on the site was to be analysed to
determine the character, nature and chronological development of the
range of settlement. The signific ance of the data from the earliest periods
lie in its impact on potential conservation strategies for the archaeology of
the town should Roman and Medieval urban sprawl or extra mural suburbs
be proved to have exist ed this far south of the known concentrations of

buildings , within the defended small town and later Anglo - Saxon burgh.

1 Northamptonshire County Council Planning Permission S/2015/1201/Ful

2 B. Giggins . 2015, Historic Towcester Survey Youth Coffee -House Bransonos
Lane

% R. Turland 1986, Trial Trench
4 NMR 726/0/9



2.0

Recording the s urpostMediew staii n-graphytoiutide yard
would also enhance our understanding of the working class housin g
provision from the 18 th and early 19 th century.

Aims and Obijectives

The main rationale of the excavation was to determine whether any
archaeological evidence exist s to connect the site to Roman or Medieval
activity . Should any evidence of struc tures or habitation on the site be

identified from those periods then the briefwas todeterminethe character
and nature of that occupation or  activity in order to understand the wider
context of the site

A secondary objective was to re -examine a previo us archaeological
investigation of the yard area in 1986 and re-analyse the plans and
photographs of the unpublished excavation in tandem with the present
fieldwork , hopefully enhancing  an overall interpretation of the site . Al
existing stratigraphy from the Georgian and Victori an period was also to
be recorded, interpreted and placed into its  postulated historical context
particularly because of the sites relevance to understanding and
archaeologically profiling aspect s of early working class housing in
Towcester .



3.0 Background
3.1 Topography and Geology

Bransoné6és Lane is part of the wider urban en
central area of Towcester. The lane is one of a number of @&ut -through 6

ways running west off of the A5 Watling Street to Islington Street, and is

located between the Silverstone Brook and the Wood Burcote Road (Fig. 1

refers). Br an s o niddfliek atotlee south of the oldest urban focus of
central Towcester placed on lo  w lying ground immediately behind 71
Watling Street  on the north side of the lane.

The site is situated on the lower elevation of a slope that begins to fall

away to the south from the higher ground around St. Lawrence & Church.
Bransono6s L an en grandlatcacheighteotl 89m above OD . The
underlying geology is predominately river gravel with some ironstone

hardpan on drift geology of mudstone

Crown copyright. All
rights reserved.
Northamptonshire County
Council licence 100019331
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Fig. 2. Br an s o bafesyard location

3.2 Historical and archaeological b ackground

The excavation site lies within an area of varied historic urban landscape
andt he HER was consultedto assessthe  potential for associated or nearby
archaeological remains. ° The town of Towcester was called Lactodorum in
the Roman period and was important for two main reasons ; its location on
Watling Street (A5 ) making it a significant link on  the main arterial route
way between London, North Wales and the north west of England and
because the site was a significant economic, trading and administrative
focus within its  own locality. Without doubt these commercial and trading
factors were to remain just as important in succeeding periods of

T owc e s teegotuiiosary history. The initial settlement would b e best
characterised as a Posting Station and small town and was occupied
throughout the Roman period fromthe 1 st to 4 th centuries AD .

The actual focus of the Roman town lay to the north of the Silverstone
Brook although casual finds  have been recorded up to 500m to the SE of
the defended area. © A potential building , mosaic desserae 6 and pottery
including a Spanish amphora handle bearing the stamp PVBLIVS IVLIVS
CRISPVS were noted as being recorded in close proximity  at 65/69 Watling
Street immediately tothe SEof Br ans o &swedera the existence
of extra -mural occupation this far south  within the vicinity of the
excavation site is  problematic and remains unverified , hence the need to

5> NMR Events and monuments list

6 RCHM, 1982, An Inven tory of Archaeological Sites in South -West
Northamptonshire

7 Ed J Sunderland & M Webb, 1995, Towcester: The Story of an English Country
Town



explore through excavation the chronological spread of material from the
BransonodsiteBane

Later h istorical records also suggest continuous and extensive urban
activity within the old defended area of the town from the 10 th century
onwards , with Domesday Book referring to Towcester as a rural manor
that by the later 11 th century had been the local administrative centre of
the surrounding hundred fora very longtime .Towcester had amarketand
fair by the 14 th century and was garrisoned and fortified for the king
during the English Civil war. °

3.2.1 Historical detall

The name Branson itself is first mentioned in historical record s in a will
dated 10 March 1712/3 in which Joan Branson leaves a t enement in
Ambrose Yardto herb  rother Benet Branson. Ambr  ose Yard later becoming
part of Br a n ssdkané with the name being ascribed sometime between
the years 1788 -92.1° In a will dated 8 February 1792 Barbara Collinson
|l eaves a house i nthiBrcenfirmingthé s adbptiomefthe street
name by then .

Various extracts in the Northampton Mercury from 1838, 1854 and 1859

give notice of the auction or sale of stone built thatched cottages with

out buildings and vy ar dwhich acouldBvellapply o thésite L a n e
under consideration .!! Importantly a  rating plan of 1855 shows the layout

of properties associated with the excavated area (see below)
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Fig.3. Bransonds | ane rating map 1855

8 NMR Events and monuments list
® RCHM, 1982, An Inven tory of Archaeological Sites in South -West
Northamptonshire

10 All historical data has been supplied by B . Giggins, Towcester Historical
Society
111838 09 01 Northampton Mercury, 1854 03 11 Northampton Merc ury, 1859

08 27 Northampton Mercury



The Youth Coffee House appears to be two stone and slate @ottages O

adjacent tothe 18 th century premises probably erected inthe early  19th
century -ap,oowe downd terraced houses with n
it has not been possible to identify the early occupiers of these bu ildings

through the census. The cottages or tenements probably escap ed

demol ition during t hddind bag haheshui sleamncain P u

the 1930 s because they were not used a s residential properties but were

used for storage for  business purposes linked . The yard is situated at the

western end of a row of tenements or cottages that extended further to

the e ast to Watling Street. At the western end was the entrance to a court

known as OPudding Bag Laned. Ththeptopedtyp r at i ng
comprised a warehouse, two cottages and a yard with two sheds or

outbuildings.

B. Giggins § a local historian, expressed the view that dhe east end of the

row possibly dates from the 18th century and is likely to have been the

west end of a rear addition to 71 Watling Street as it retains a blocked -up

window with a keystone that extends above the lintel @ Rebuilt into the rear

of 71 Watling Streetis a 1725 date stone. 12 Number 71 Watling Street was

largely rebuilt in 1843 by George Henson jnr. At that time part of the rear

addition appears to have been demolished to create a small yard between

it and the present Y outh Coffee House. Inthe 20th century a single storey

lobby was added to link the developing street frontage to the former rear

addition to 71 Watling Street and t.Fe 6écott a

3.2.2 Earlier archaeological fieldwork

The present area of excavation was subject to trial trenching in 1986 when

the yard of the building which is now occupied by the Towcester Youth

Club Coffee House was archaeo logically investigated  and evaluated by R.
Turland . The yard had been cleared to reveal the in-situ  remain ing
stratigraphy  of the late 18 th century to mid -19th levels of the site . R.
Turland excavated through these layers with one 3m long trial trench
approximately 0.5m  wideand 0.5mdeep alignedwestto east, 0.5m tothe
south of the north  -western boundary ofthearea  which had constituted the
north wall of the yard outbuildings

R. Turland also noted and recorded alongside his trial trench the outline of
walls relating to the layout of out buildings shown on the 1855 Rating Map
and the found ations of a water closet situated at the south -western edge

of the site. The wall foundations  most likely should  be associated with the

construction and development of the property  outbuildings whilst the later

brick and stone foundations are mo re likely connected to the insertion of

the main sewer servicing Br ans o anidoilela n d Pud
facilities which were  built after the cholera outbreak of 1854. 14

The north wall of the outbuildings is still extan tand although not evident
today or referred to by B. Giggins , photographs from the R. Turland ex-

2. B. Giggins Hi st oric Towcester Survey Youth Coffee Ho
131932 12 09 Northampton Mercury
4 B.Giggins Historic Towcester Survey Youth Coffe



cavation indicate  the probable existence of a rear exit into what may have
been Ambrose Yard , situated in the rear of the eastern half of the out -
building s. Unfortunately s ubsequent refurbishment and re -pointing  post
excavation when the yard was transformed into a paved garden area has
subsequently obscured the existence and meaning of this evidence.
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Plate 1 . Position of  Branson Lane 1986 Trial Trench (R . Turland )
showing bricked up entrance

No assemblage of any artefacts from the 1986 excavation have survived
to provide an independent chronology for the site although there is a
comprehensive and informative  photographic record of the yard area
whilst under excavation as wellas a  detailed site plan and section of the
site which helps clarify the extent as well as the nature  of the field work

Specifically , the R. Turland 1986 plan allow s us to identify  the layout of
the yard and patrticularly the structural  elements and partial floor plan of
the outhouses aswellas revealing associated internal metalled surfaces of
the outbuildings  and foundations of the 19 th century water closet.
However , and most interestingly , the plan also implies the exist ence of an
enigmatic ditch bisecting the trial trench  and below the excavated area
which was believed to predate the construction of the yard outbuildings

and may have been Roman in origin but whose actual date range could
not conclusively be deduced .

The existence or otherwise of this feature is important in that it holds out
the possibility of  enhancing our understanding of the character of Roman
occupation within the wider area, and, potentially a crucial factor in

elucidating the relationship between the site and a ny possible sub -stantial



stone building to the SE between 65/69 Watling Street which could have
represented an associated domestic complex
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Fig . 4. Red outline denoting position and alignment of underlying ditch
Pl an Bransondés L abBxeavaftioa({Rd .IT@l&a ).

The b rick lining of an opening for a culvert is evident in the centre of the

site cutting through the front wall of the outbuilding but the exten t and
purpose of the feature is difficult to determine although it may have
something to  do with the clay lined sump of an earth closet located
immediately south of the brick alignment which was only located sub -
sequently during the present excavation. Meanwhile the brick additions at

the south -western end of the yard appear to be associated w ith the
construction of the mid ~ -19th century toilet facilities post the advent of the
Bransonds Lane main sewer development.



Plate 2. Brick Culvert Mount through north
outbuildings (R. Turland

The accompanying R. Turland

related to the trial trench

1986)

west wall of the yard

section clearly shows the stratigraph y
baulk and the existence within the boundary of

the south -west ern wall of a large pit which subsequent ly was filled withre -

deposited material being

yard was used as a garden area

reused as a s oakaway in recent times when the
post excavation.
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